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Dear Family and friends, 

      We are starting here the translation of another document of the Guadagni Archives:  

1326. 1329 A.D. i.e. the years in which the document was originally written – one of the most 
ancient documents of the Guadagni Archives and the most ancient Guadagni Last Will 
recorded.        
                                                 

D. 1 . N . 2   (Listing letters & numbers) 
 
Last Will of Gherardo son of Migliore son of Guadagno Guadagni on July 
20th, 1326 
 
          Another Last Will of the same on October 9th 1329.  
   
This is the first Guadagni Archives document that we are translating from Latin, not 
Italian. 

 
                        The most ancient last will and one of the most ancient documents of the Guadagni 
Family Archives is the above listed Gherardo Guadagni’s last will (dated July 20, 1326). 
Gherardo is son of Migliore, son of Guadagno,                    
 
[The original Latin text, written 690 years ago, is here in its entirety, as a Family treasure to 
transmit through centuries and generations.] 
                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                            Guadagno Guadagni & 
Contessa N 
                                                                                           (Our common ancestors) 
                                                            ____________________|______________________ 
                                                            |                                                                                    | 
            Migliore Guadagni (our common ancestor) +1310 and Tora N.              Zato Guadagni  
                                                            |                                                                                     |   
                                _____________________________________                                        | 
                               |                                                                          |                                       | 
   Matteo Guadagni +1319 (our direct ancestor)        Gherardo Guadagni + 
1329    Migliorozzo                                                           |                                                        (our 
great-uncle)                    Guadagni  
             Vieri Guadagni 1303-1323                                                                                  + 1333 
                               |                                                                                             
            Migliore Guadagni +1383 
                               | 
              Vieri Guadagni +1368 
                               | 
             Vieri Guadagni 1369-1426 
(direct ancestor of all of us, Santo-Spirito, dell’Opera, Nunziata, Torrigiani 



     French Guadagni and Dufour Berte) 

 
In the year 1326, 1329 A.D. Italian had not been accepted as a written language yet, it was only 
an oral dialect, different in the various Regions of Italy like other oral dialects in all the countries 
of Western Europe, which used to be part of the Roman Empire. As we know the City of Rome 
was officially founded in the year 753 B.C. by the twin brothers Romulus and Remus, and the 
Roman Empire officially ended in 476 A.D. when the last Roman Emperor Romulus Augustus 
(he lived from 461 to after 507 AD), aged 15, abdicated his scepter and crown to Odoacer, 
Barbarian King of the Goths.  
 

 
The twins Romulus and Remus abandoned by their father are adopted and fed by a she-wolf. 

Romulus will found the city of Rome named after him. 



M

 
Map of all the Roman Empire, from Southern Scotland to Egypt and Saudi Arabia. 

 
 
 

 
 

Last Roman Emperor Romulus Augustus in a movie. 



 

 
15 years old Emperor Romulus Augustus resigns the crown to Odoacer, Barbarian King of the 

Goths 
 
During those 1,229 years, Latin was the official written and oral language of the Western 
Civilization. Later, little by little, each part of the ex-Roman Empire developed its own different 
oral language and/or dialect, influenced by the specific language of the different barbarian tribes 
which had conquered them and by other historical local factors of each city and/or country.  
            In 1326 however, Latin was still the official written language in all of Italy and most of 
Western Europe and this is why Gherardo Guadagni’s Last Will is in Latin, which we will 
translate into English. 
                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                             
 
 
Our direct ancestor, Matteo Guadagni (see family tree above), son of Migliore and brother of 
Gherardo, married Adalasia, daughter of Vieri de’Cerchi, leader of the “White” Guelphs, who 
were for the Pope but in favor of a certain independence from him. It seemed that Vieri de’ 
Cerchi was extremely handsome (according to historian Dino Compagni). He was a banker and a 
politician. Matteo Guadagni probably named his son “Vieri” after his father in law. From then on 
Vieri became a famous and historical Guadagni Family name. 
 



 
 

The most recent and actual Vieri Guadagni (b. 1948) aka V. Gaines, son of Antonio Guadagni 
and Dolores Mapelli, is a successful car racer and entrepreneur in Denver, Colorado. 

 
 

 
 

Vieri de’Cerchi leading the “White” Guelphs against Donati’s “Black” Guelphs. 



 
Unhappily we don’t have any portrait or sculpture of Vieri de’Cerchi. However we have a well 
preserved sculpture of Blessed Humiliana de’Cerchi. 
 

 
Blessed Umiliana de’Cerchi (1219-1246), great aunt of Vieri de’Cerchi and Vieri Guadagni (and 
all of us; I suggest you read her marvelous life). Maybe in the austere but perfectly regular traits 

of her face we can see some of the astonishing manly beauty of our direct ancestor Vieri 
de’Cerchi (from whom we all descend). 

 
Let’s get back to Vieri Guadagni’s uncle, Gherardo: 

 
Gherardo Guadagni spent most of his life as a soldier. He was so proud of it that he wrote in his 
will that he wanted a portrait of himself in armor sculpted on his tomb. He also had special 
concern for his arms and armor, which he left to some of his servants, probably to those who had 
been with him in his military campaigns. 
 
            As we know he had a cousin, Migliorozzo Guadagni, son of Zato. Migliorozzo was a 
warrior more than a merchant. He fought in the defense of Florence against Holy Roman 
Emperor Henry VII in 1312, and his name is recalled in the list of the enemies of the Empire. He 
fought in the battle of Montecatini in 1315 among the “feditori” and was a “feditore” also in the 
tragic battle of Altopascio in 1325, and a standard-bearer. 



 
            Gherardo was “Gonfalonier of Justice” (President of the Republic of Florence) for two 
months, starting on April 15, 1319. Nothing noteworthy happened during his term because at that 
time Florence was at peace with everyone. In 1326, the city of Prato elected him Captain of the 
People and Governor of the City. 
 
            It was while he held that office that, on March 22, 1327, he asked his cousin Lorenzo 
Guadagni, son of Zato, to go to Migliorozzo Guadagni and tell him that he, Gherardo and his 
wife, Lippa, wanted to make peace with him and forgive him. Migliorozzo had been a “feditore”, 
a Prior of Florence in 1321 and a standard-bearer of the company of his district in 1325, the year 
of the tragic defeat at Altopascio. He spent the rest of his life as a military commander, mostly in 
charge of guarding the fortresses which Florence had conquered. 
 
 

 
 

Migliorozzo’s poisoned pancakes. 
 
            However, Migliorozzo was a violent man, enemy to his own relatives. As we know 
in1327 he attacked, smit and wounded his cousin Gherardo with a knife. Later he poisoned the 
pancakes that Gherardo and his pregnant wife were eating. The couple was given an antidote 
which saved their life momentarily. When the crime was discovered, on February18 the judge 
sentenced Migliorozzo to pay a fine of 2,000 lire and to have his right hand and left foot cut off. 
However the second part of the sentence was not carried out because Gherardo and Lippa 
Guadagni offered him peace and forgiveness on Good Friday of that same year which fell on 
March 22. Lippa died however nine days later, from the consequences of that poisoning. 
 
            The following year, the Duke of Calabria, whom the Florentine had temporarily chosen 
as their ruler, decided to attack Castruccio, ruler of Lucca and Pisa. The duke greatly valued 
Gherardo’s military experience, so he ordered him to organize a large company of cavalrymen, 
to be the backbone of the army. Gherardo participated in the campaign with a high commanding 
rank and rendered noteworthy services to his city. He did the same in the war of the following 
year. However he was severely wounded and suffered great pains for many months, until he died 
in October 1329. 
 
 



 
Gherardo Guadagni’s company of cavalrymen attacking the enemy. 

 

 
 

Knight Gherardo Guadagni is severely wounded in battle 
 
            In his will, drawn by Sir Ciallo son of Dino, he asked to be buried in a military way in the 
Chapel of S. Martino, built by his father Migliore Guadagni, common ancestor to all of us, in the 



Church of the Santissima Annunziata. In the history of the Basilica of Santissima Annunziata we 
read that “…in the first half of the 14th Century several chapels and altars were built in the 
Basilica: St. Ann, Saint Martin of the Guadagni Family, Saint Jacopo…” 
However, the Guadagni lost the patronage of the Chapel of St. Martin in 1434, when their goods 
were confiscated by the angry Medici. The chapel was given to the Villani Family. However, the 
Guadagni brothers, Jacopo (1497-1569, ancestor of the Guadagni of Santo Spirito i.e. us) and 
Filippo (1540-1555, ancestor of the Guadagni dell’Opera-Torrigiani), wanted to regain the 
chapel to their family. The chapel was dear to them because of the remembrance of their 
ancestors. So they went to the Grand Duke and asked for it, but were unable to obtain it. Then 
they decided to opt for another chapel in the same church, close to the main altar. Giovambatista 
del Tovaglia, thanks to a gift to his ancestors from Lodovico Gonzaga, Duke of Mantua, was 
allowed the ownership of all the chapels around the choir, behind the main altar. From him, the 
two Guadagni brothers obtained as a gift, the chapel of S. Sigismondo by an act of November 29, 
1541, notarized by Ser Raffaello Baldesi. They immediately set out to have the chapel decorated 
in a noble fashion. They dedicated it to Saints Jacopo and Filippo. They had the famous artist, 
Agnolo Allori (better known as “il Bronzino”) paint a great painting behind the altar, 
representing Christ’s Resurrection.  

 
Artist Bronzino-self-portrait 

 

 
 

Guadagni Crest above the main entrance of the Guadagni Chapel in the Basilica of Santissima 
Annunziata. 



 
 

Guadagni Chapel of Santissima Annunziata: “Resurrection” by artist Bronzino (In the original 
fresco the figures are larger than life; the Guadagni Chapel is next to the main altar on its left; it 

is one of the largest and most beautiful chapels of the Basilica). 



 
So there were historically two Guadagni Chapels built in the Basilica of Santissima Annunziata. 
 
 

 
Basilica of Santissima Annunziata, Florence. Guadagni Crest with crown of Marchese under the 

left upper window at the end of the Church, above the 16th Century Guadagni Chapel. 
 

Gherardo also stated that, should his daughters ever want to become nuns, his inheritance 
should be used to found a convent, dependent on the Servite monks. However Historian 
Passerini, who gives us this information, has never found any trace of Gherardo’s daughters, 
existence. 
 



 
Page 3 

Page 1 of the text of Gherardo Guadagni’s last will: it is in Latin and so is the rest of the 
document. It is very well kept in nice cursive easy to read. 

 



“1326 July 26 (166 years before Columbus discovered America) 
 
 
In the name of the Lord, today in the year one thousand three hundred twenty six from His 
Incarnation, early in the tenth hour, of the twentysixth day of the month of July, Gherardo son of 
Migliore Guadagni, of the Guadagni Family, in the Holy Church of St. Michael Visdomini,  
 

 
 

Interior of the Church of San Michele Visdomini, in Florence 
 
 



 
 

Entrance of the Church of San Michele Visdomini on the left, and Duomo of Florence in the 
center background. 

The Guadagni dell’Opera Palace is just behind the Duomo and the Guadagni “Nunziata” Palace 
is just a few blocks upfront of this picture.  
 



 
Another view of the Façade of the Church of San Michele Visdomini, Florence 



 
Florentine citizen of the abovementioned city, healthy of mind, body and intellect, knowing and 
acknowledging that there is nothing more certain than death and nothing more uncertain than the 
hour of death, and to desire to keep the members of our body healthy for a long time and the area 
of power of the mind with an honorable disposition after one’s death, that he keeps a good state 
of mind both in good times and in bad, he should never leave his will without writing it, and 
without good dispositions, and his last will he should make it be done. 
 
            At the beginning he will leave his soul, and it will be recommended by whoever is with 
him to the almighty God, and to the Blessed Mary Ever Virgin and to all the Saints, and his 
body, which left this life, will be buried in a Religious way, and in the presence of said church, 
they buried him the way he wanted. His relics were disposed as he wanted and ordered.” 
 
 
Gherardo also stated that, should his daughters ever want to become nuns, his inheritance should 
be used to found a convent, dependent on the Servite monks. However Historian Passerini, who 
gives us this information, has never found any trace of Gherardo’s daughters, existence. 
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“His debts will be paid by means of his own goods until full satisfaction and those people with 
whom he has special ties should receive everything they are owed, if any good or goods appear 



to be remaining the legate gives them to all of whom they still owe something, by law or by 
knowledge and after everything has been given or given back, every object, piece of furniture, 
house or piece of land, and if future obligations remain, they will be satisfied, the rest will be 
given to offer prayers for Gherardo’s soul and the souls of his relatives and some money should 
be given to the poor and to repair their lodgings and to appease their creditors and something 
must be given to the Order of the Servites (“Servants of Mary” Friars who looked after the 
Basilica of Santissima Annunziata in Florence), of the Basilica of Santissima Annunziata in 
Florence, where Gherardo is going to be buried in the Chapel of Saint Martin where the Divine 
Office will be celebrated daily on the Altar of this Chapel by a Chaplain of the abovementioned 
Basilica for fifty years and the above mentioned Chapel of Saint Martin will be built there for 
Migliore Guadagni of the Guadagni Family, father of Gherardo.)  
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And some money should be given to provide for the living, food and clothing of the above 
mentioned Chaplain; such does not need to be provided nor should the priests do it if the above 
Chaplain never officiates  in the said church, and does not lead the Divine Office, but celebrates 
only for his own soul, and for those of his parents, brothers, and of his own nephews then he 
does not deserve to receive money from the Society of the Blessed Mary ever Virgin and of Saint 
Michael of Florence and the above money should be distributed to the poor and among the poor 
especially to the Captains of the above Society who for a while would be safe in spite of the 
Judges of such Legacy.  
 

 
Medieval poor, above and below 

 

 
 
Book Fifty states that they can spend a certain amount of the offerings in the above convent. The 
same person takes care of the altar in the above Chapel, takes care of the Chalice, of the Missal, 
of the vestments and of all the ornaments and provides care for the ornaments and for all that 



belongs to the said Altar, with his goods, including the flowers on certain days and pays his 
helpers and executes the testaments according 
 

 
Medieval Priest celebrating Mass (in Latin) 

 
to the last will of the testator and proceeds to the execution of the last wills in the presence of the 
Legate who gives the permission and needs to restrain his abovementioned employees and 
executives in the execution of the above wills.  
 
Gherardo Guadagni’s Last Will Page 6 
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Likewise he left strips of snake and python skins for the poor and for his own soul and the ones 
of his parents and siblings and all of his attack and defense armaments and all the clothing on his 
bed in his bed-room and the other furniture existing in his room to sell 



 
Python 

 

 
Armaments                                                      Clothings 

 
Bed 

 



and to give, and to give to other people and to distribute among his servants, according to their 
diligence and past service.  

 
Medieval masters and servants. 

 
            Gherardo left Brothers Simone and Guglielmone of the Friars of the Convent tools to 
grow large numbers of flowers. 
 

 
Tools to grow flowers and till the soil 

 
Likewise for his soul and the ones of his relatives, he gave to each of the Priors of the above 
Convent a cape (mantle) with five flowers each. 



 
             Medieval Friars Cape                            Medieval Convent 

 
There are also seven witnesses in the present testament and several more, and in the Church of 
St. Michael there are twenty vicars. Also somebody has written an offer for him, and put it next 
to the offer that Guglielmo has to procure uninterruptedly for him (Gherardo) and for his 
servants. In all of these and other goods of his, and his properties, in all his actions present and 
future, Migliore son of Vieri son of Matteo son of Migliore Guadagni of the Guadagni Family 
was buried in the Chapel of Saint Martin that Gherardo built at that time for him, Migliore 
Guadagni of the Guadagni Family. 
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If the above mentioned Migliore should die before reaching the legal age or without leaving 
hereafter legitimate male children, born from a legitimate marriage, he said, confirmed, wanted 
and ordered that all his other goods, mobile (i.e. can be moved around like money, furniture, 
works of art…) and immobile (cannot be moved i.e. land, properties, houses, castles, farms etc.), 
in the present and in the future would be used to build a monastery of Nuns of the Order of the 
Virgin Mary, in that place, in which his trustworthy manager would follow up to build what 
would be the most pleasant and beautiful and honorable Monastery which would be under the 
authority, government and protection of the Order of a Convent of Florence. The Monastery had 
to be built a few years after the arrival of the trustworthy manager with the income from 
Migliore’s own goods added to the profit from the sale of some of his immobile goods, and with 
this income the manager would build the said monastery. If he didn’t plunder the building 
materials and executed the orders accurately without trying to diminish the projected work, with 
his goods from the sale and his rent from the goods he should be able to finish it as planned and 
given it to the Society of Saint Michael of Florence and this Society would inherit the goods and 
the substance of the above Society.                     
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However the Captain of this Society sold it and distributed the profits to the poor, offering it for 
the good and Redemption of his own soul, of the ones of his parents, his children and his 



grandchildren and so nothing of his goods could be sold or alienated. In such a way Migliore 
could not attain in any way the property or possession of those goods directly or indirectly, 
silently or officially, or through a relative of his spouse, (because they had been dedicated to the 
salvation of the souls of the Captain and of his family), even if the Captain’s male children died, 
without legitimate male children, and he did not have any more children from his legitimate 
marriage, but if Migliore had children from a legitimate marriage in such a case it would be okay 
and the Monastery had to be built,  and if said Migliore had female daughters, one or more than 
one, in this case Migliore, or his legitimate male children and, this is said and remains, if he 
wanted those daughters as many as they came, then pious good Migliore and the flowers of his 
marriage (“his children’), even if they were “one thousand two hundred” (Medieval expression 
meaning “numerous”) with what was left of  “good Migliore’s” fortune and of the goods of the 
ones who inherited from him, the Monastery would have to be built if everything was to be 
executed and was executed according to that order and that it was somehow indicated anywhere 
in his testament and last will and consensus and that he wanted to “disregard the last will and 
testament of his “untrustworthy manager”” (i.e. the “Captain”). 
 

 
Detail of a 14th Century oak choir stall of Winchester 
Cathedral – his smile reminds us of medieval crooks. 

 
 



 

 
Medieval Monastery 

 
Historical Note: Who was this Migliore Guadagni (direct ancestor of all of us) and why was he 
so important for Gherardo?  
     Gherardo (+1327) was the oldest son of Migliore Guadagni (Senior), great-grandfather of the 
above; he had a sister, Agnoletta, and two brothers, Matteo and Guadagno. As we remember 
Gherardo’s cousin, Migliorozzo Guadagni poisoned Gherardo’s pregnant wife, Lippa, and their 
unborn baby to death. Guadagno died of plague in 1340 and had three daughters, Piera, Eletta 
and Fia and no sons. Matteo married Adalasia de’Cerchi, daughter of the “handsome” Vieri 
de’Cerchi, leader of the “White Guelphs” of Florence, and named his only son, Vieri, after his 
famous father-in-law. Vieri Guadagni had only one son, Migliore, before dying at 20 years old. 
So Migliore was the only Guadagni male left to continue the family and we all descend from 
him. However Gherardo could not foresee the future and was thus rightfully worried about the 
continuation of the Guadagni Family, who all depended on Migliore, who was only 4 years old 
when Gherardo died of his wounds while leading the Florentine cavalry in a heroic attack.  
 
[Eventually Migliore Guadagni had only one son, Vieri, and five daughters, Sister Francesca 
(nun), Agnoletta, Nanna, Niccolosa and Jacopa. 
His son Vieri Guadagni had two sons, Bernardo (who had 6 sons and one daughter) and Vieri 
(who had 5 sons and 5 daughters and one of his sons, Migliore Guadagni Junior, is the director 
ancestor of all of us)]. 
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And that he (Migliore) consented and wanted to “disregard the last will and testament of his 
“untrustworthy manager”” (i.e the “Captain”) to execute Falcone of Lucignano and Bonaccorso 
of Gineveltro and the Prior of the above Convent who was for the above, and Brothers Simone 
and Guglielmino, superiors of the friars of the above Order and the 
 

 
 

Lucignano: small medieval town close to Florence. 
 
Convent and the oldest of them and their superiors, giving and conceding what was said above 
about the untrustworthy manager in words and his life, and in his singular pride and whether you 
like it or not, the superiors were executing the orders, in full liberty, the general and the special 
order, with full, free and general administration, and full, free power and irrevocable mandate, 
with full, free and general administrative power against two persons, in the fields of their mobile 
and immobile goods and by whom they were asked to sell and to alienate and obliging the above 
legates to sell, give, pay for their superiors and so it is. Migliore left the above mentioned tutors 
behind and wanted the above Falcon and Father Bonaccorso Geri and the Franciscan Pazzino 
de’Pazzi (who was Migliore Guadagni’s uncle; Pazzino’s sister, Monna de’Pazzi, being 
Migliore’s mother), most of the same intervened uselessly, thus irritating the above “testor” (last 
will-writer) Gherardo Guadagni, concerning a different testament and a different last will, so on 
the back of the same he put together the facts, and orderly writing them with his own hands and 
in this very important task (text continues in page 10 like in the original Latin)… 
 
 



 
 
Francesco de’ Pazzi (1340-1378), who tried to murder Lorenzo de’ Medici the Magnificent, was 

a great-nephew of the above Migliore Guadagni, whose mother was of Monna de’Pazzi. 
 
Historical note on the above: 
 
An interesting historical truth(: some members of the Guadagni Family were aware of 
it, including my cousin Vieri Guadagni who told me about it, however I was not, so I write it 
here for all those who did not know it and for all the readers who are not part of the 
Guadagni Family and maybe are not aware of it) 
 
In contemporary Italian “Pazzo” means “Crazy”. In reality, however, Pazzi was simply an old 
family name like “Smith”, “Brown” or “Jones” before the Pazzi plot against the Medici. 
However, after the Pazzi plot to kill the all-powerful Medici brothers and their failure to kill both 
of them, and the horrible consequences for the Pazzi Family, several of whom lost their lives, 
and the loss of their large patrimony, their name “Pazzi” (is Plural, “Pazzo” is singular, 
“Pazzino”, i.e “little Pazzo” was a typical first name of the Pazzi Family like Guadagno 
Guadagni for the Guadagni) in Italian became synonymous of “Out of their mind, crazy” and 
such it is still nowadays. In the Latin Dictionary (as we know Italian comes mostly from Latin) 
the adjective “Pazzus” or “Pazzum” or anything similar does not exist, proof that the adjective 
“pazzo” does not come from Latin but from the “Pazzi Family name”. From their name also 
come the verb “impazzire”, “to become crazy” and the term “pazzia”, “craziness, folly, 
madness”, and the adverb “pazzamente”, “in a crazy way”. 
 
In contemporary Italian “Guadagno” means “gain, earning” and “Guadagni” means “gains or 
earnings” and the verb “Guadagnare” means “to gain, to earn”. However, in the Latin Dictionary, 
“Guadagnum”, “Guadagni”, “Guadagnare” “Ganum”, “Ganare” don’t exist, the closest we get to 
is “ganea” which means a “disorderly house or a low-eating house”. This means that “Guadagni” 
does not come from Latin but was an old Florentine family name like Antinori, Corsini, 
Torrigiani, Bartolini, Medici and Pazzi, and then because they became so nationally and 



internationally famous for earning such huge amounts of money until they became for a few 
years the “richest family in Europe”, in Italian “Guadagno, plural Guadagni”, started meaning to 
“gain(s), earning(s)” and the verb “Guadagnare” “to earn, to gain” (while Antinare, Corsinsare, 
Torrigianare and Bartolinare don’t mean anything at all and don’t exist). When the Guadagni 
moved to France during the Renaissance, and changed their name in “Gadagne”, the new French 
verb “gagner” meant to “gain”. In English the verb to “gain” or the noun “gain” were probably 
adopted when the French Royal Princess Henriette married King Charles 1st of England and 
moved to England with all her French retinue and friends. 
   However in English, “gains” and “to gain”, from Guadagni and Guadagnare, can also be 
translated in “earnings”, and “to earn”; in Italian instead “guadagnare”, in French “gagner’, in 
Spanish “ ganar”, in Portuguese “ganhe” are the only verb meaning to “earn”, so any activity 
earning a profit in “all the Latin derived languages”, spoken in Europe, Latin America and most 
of Africa derive directly from our Guadagni Family surname, which replaced completely the 
original word of those languages meaning “to earn” due to the international fame earned by our 
ancestors in making money. In most of the contemporary world the only word of the vocabulary 
meaning profit-making activity comes from our family name, Guadagni, and their outstandingly 
brilliant internationally famous historically known financial success. In German to “earn” is 
“verdienen” but to “gain” is “zu gewinnen” (probably from Guadagni also). 
 
[“Pazzo” (“crazy” in Italian) instead is translated by “fou” in French, “crazy” in English, “loco” 
in Spanish, and “louco” in Portuguese and so the influence of the actions and behavior of the 
Pazzi Family is restricted only to Italy, not to most of the civilized world like the 
“Guadagni’s”]. 
 
    ____________________________________________________________________________
__________________ 
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…he did not write any derogatory observation on other people, or on several witnesses, and 
wrote his will in his ordinary handwriting but backwards,  and the conditions, apart from their 
fiery motion, asserting that he was a different witness from them regarding the Holy last will, for 



that fact and whatever were the derogatory words, the alternative last will for their condemnation 
acting in such testament and last will taking advantage of the totality of the expertise and of the 
revocation of the expert concerning such testament and Holy last will he wanted this testament 
and last will in which we can see such combined derogation of yours and so forth, which seems 
in any way to overrun, and he wanted this own testament of his to win with the testament writer 
thereupon with this text, and if this testament has no value, nor will it have, nor did it have once 
upon a time and he wants it to be valuable then he must uphold the lawful rights of the “codicils” 
(“Additions to the Will”) and the will of the author of them, thanks to which he could better and 
more strongly win [the Latin language likes long sentences so I tried to keep them that way to 
add to the Medieval flavor of this inedit document of Gherardo Guadagni, which has been kept 
safe and untouched in the Guadagni Archives for 688 years! 
 
   Written in Florence in a room of Santa Maria de’ Servi [The Guadagni Family Parish Church 
in the Middle Ages; a few centuries later they Moved to the Basilica of Santissima Annunziata, 
where they built two Family chapels, and then to the Basilica of Santo Spirito, a few yards from 
the Guadagni di Santo Spirito (our branch’s) Palace], in front of witnesses, by the above 
testament writer in front of and witnessed by Father Paolo Gucci Filippi, Father Giovanni, from 
Oltrarno (“the other side of the Arno from where the Duomo and Santa Maria de’Servi are, ie. 
where Santo Spirito and the actual Guadagni-Dufour Berte Palace are located now), Father 
Franco from Oltrarno, Father Grimaldo from Mugello, Father Andrea Pilastri, Father Andrea 
from (the Church of Santi Apostoli), Father Grettimo, from Florence living in the above Convent 
of Santa Maria de’Servi in Florence. 
 

 
Oltrarno: Piazza Santo Spirito: “Outdoor Market Day”: Palazzo Guadagni-Dufour Berte is the 

Palace on the left, behind the statue. The top of the main entrance door of the palace can be seen 
behind a salesperson canopy on the left of the statue. 



 

 
Left: Church of Santi Apostoli, Florence. As we remember, Isabella Guadagni and Tonino 

Carloni got married there in June, 1943. It is considered the oldest church in Florence. 
Right: Bartolini-Salimbeni-Torrigiani Palace where Uncle Vieri Guadagni lived and where he 

gave the wedding reception for Isabella and Tonino. 
 
Countersigned by Ciallo son of Dino from Petrognano (often in the Middle-Ages people only 
had a first name and the town of origin and no last name, unless like the Guadagni and de’Pazzi 
they were from an important noble family), implied in addition with orderly and public notary in 
between which and with denial of public employee and public legislator is signed by the 
undersigned.   
 



 
Petrognano 

 
 



 
 
Page 11 
 
            [Before starting the translation of the Eleventh Page of Gherardo’s Last Will I wish to 
add more remarks on the linguistic ramifications of the Guadagni Family surname].  
 



In Italian “guadagno” means “gain” and “guadagnare” means ‘“to earn”. But it also 
means “to win” and “to reach” and “guadagnare tempo”” “to save time”, “guadagnare terreno” 
“to gain ground”. 

 
In French “guadagnare” i.e “gagner” (from Guadagne, later Gadagne (French form of the 

Italian Guadagni) means like in Italian “to earn, to win and to reach” but it also means “to gain, 
to get, to overcome, to spread, and to save” for example “gagner une bataille” means “to win a 
battle” “une equipe gagnante” means “a winning team”; the Gadagne Family were not only 
known to make unbelievable businesses and fortunes, but, thanks to their several members who 
were brilliant officers in the King of France’s army, their name became synonymous with 
“victory” (of the King’s armies over their enemies and in general).  

 

 
Battle of Renty August 12, 1554. Led by the Duke of Guise, Gaspar de Saulx-Tavannes 

and Guillaume de Gadagne, the French defeat the Holy Roman Imperial Army led by Emperor 
Charles V himself. Guillaume is only 19 years old but his courage and determination become 
legendary. King Henry II of France rewards him by nominating him one of the 24 noblemen 

allowed to enter his room at any time. He also appoints him Seneschal of the Region of Lyon, at 
that time the richest and most important city of France. 

 
So “gagner” means “to win” not necessarily only in battle or war, but also in other fields; 

for example “gagner un pari” means “to win a bet”, “Les Denver Broncos ont gagne’ contre les 
Chicago Bears” means “The Denver Broncos have beaten or defeated the Chicago Bears”,  “il a 
gagne’ une ame” i.e. “he saved a soul” and so forth.]. 

 



In Spanish the noun “guadagna” means “scythe” and is used in the expression “la 
guadagna de la muerte” “the scythe of death”; the verb “guadagnare” i.e “ganar” means “to 
win, to receive, to be superior, to be better, to have an advantage, to conquer, to improve. 

 
In Portuguese the verb “ganhar” means “to win”, “to beat”, “to outdo”, “to earn”, “to 

gain”, “to get”, “to reach”; “ganhador” means “winning” and “winner” and “earner”; “ganho” 
(like “Guadagno” in Italian and “ganhos” plural like “Guadagni”) means “profit, gain and 
winnings”. 

 
In German the verb”gewinnen” means “to win”, with another word after it, it may mean 

“to win somebody over”, “to win handsomely”, to “gain time”, to “reclaim land”, to “climb” 
and so forth. 

What fascinates me is that in the Middle-Ages Guadagni was not a famous historical last 
name but a normal first name like John, Jim or Mike. The names of the first recorded 6 
generations of the family were Migliore, Guittone, Giovanni, Francesco, Guittone and 
Guadagno. Guadagno had a brother, named Ildebrandino and both of them had children and 
descendants. So to specify which branch they were from, they probably asked if they were 
Guadagno’s (Latin Genitive Guadagni) or Ildebrandino’s (Ildebrandini) offspring. We and 
everybody else of the remaining Family Branch descend from Guadagno, so we are last-named 
Guadagni. Pretty quickly, the members of the Guadagni Family became known for their capacity 
to earn and make huge amounts of money and to be great winners all the time in everything they 
did. So like “pazzo” started meaning “crazy” after the ill planned conspiracy of the Pazzi Family 
against the Medici, “Guadagnare” started meaning to “earn and to “win” because that’s what the 
Guadagni Family did all the time. So new verbs and nouns were created from the Guadagni 
surname, in Italian, French, English, Spanish, Portuguese and German languages, because of the 
continuity and success of their famous actions in so many fields. The above lists of how many 
verbs and nouns derive from their last name define historically the different traits of their 
personalities more accurately than any written or painted portrait. 

 
The Carloni instead, who are another old Florentine Family, are the descendants of 

“Carlone” (i.e “Big Carlo”). It seems that some well-known members of the Carloni Family were 
known to be sloppy, confused, disorderly, unorganized, inaccurate in their doings. So in Florence 
they created the expression “alla Carlona” i.e “the Carloni way”, which meant all of the above. 
And they created the verb “inCarlonirsi” which meant “to behave alla Carlona”. In junior high I 
disliked Ancient Greek, Algebra and Geometry. So I did my homework in those subjects in a 
sloppy, inaccurate, disorderly way. When my mother, Isabella Guadagni, saw me acting that 
way, knowing that I could do better, she told me with an amused smile “Francesco don’t 
“inCarlonirti…!!!” in her gentle good-natured Tuscan humor. 

 
Let us go back to great-uncle Gherardo’s testament: 
 
“In the Name of the Lord in the year one thousand three hundred and twenty nine from 

His birth in the thirteenth hour of the Day October nine, Gherardo son of Migliore Guadagni of 
the Guadagni Family of the Parish of St. Michael Visdomini of Florence, healthy of mind as it is 
allowed, 

 



 
Frescoed ceiling of San Michele Visdomini Church in Florence (the church is located 3 

blocks from Guadagni dell’Opera Palace). 

 
Main entrance of the Guadagni dell’Opera Palace, now Palace of the Region of Tuscany 

(i.e. the most important palace of Tuscany, because all of Tuscany, including the cities of 
Florence, Pisa, Siena and so forth, are governed by functionaries in its offices), in Square of the 

Duomo (“Cathedral”), Florence. 
 

and of weary body, wanting to dispose of his goods, and knowing and recognizing that he had a 
testament written elsewhere with his hand for this use, wanted to detract and to cling to the above 
testament for himself to correct, change and confirm to contain rites to honor the dead. In such a 
way he managed to do. At first he increased the above Testament. At another time he had 
himself put it together and do it, written with his hand for the text in his chapters and parts – then 
he confirmed and approved it and wanted it to be valid in all and each one of its exceptions and 
detractions which in this text will be revoked, corrected and changed. Likewise if it happens that 



the testament is left to a juridical representative for his second wife Sandra, for what he wants to 
leave to her or to somebody else and she knew if he confessed that at the time when the marriage 
was contracted between them, his wife brought him a dowry of two hundred Florins (Florentine 
currency) or two hundred Florins reckoned in the same legacy or two hundred from all the pieces 
of cloth which Gherardo owned or used to own from his own goods and which the representative 
estimated. 
 
[Passerini ignores Sandra’s last name and so do we; as we remember, Gherardo’s first wife, 
Lippa Ardinghelli, died with their unborn child from poisoned pancakes given to her by their 
cousin Migliorozzo Guadagni on March 31, 1327 and Gherardo himself wrote this will on 
October 9, 1329 and died sometimes in October 1329, a few days later, from his wounds in 
battle. So he was probably writing his testament on his deathbed and had married his second wife 
Sandra less than two and a half years before. As far as Passerini and we know, he had no sons 
from her. However he mentions his daughters in his Will: are they all from his first wife Lippa or 
also from Sandra? Passerini only mentions Sandra’s first name in his Family Tree, so we don’t 
know anything about her birth family. Lippa, instead, was an Ardinghelli, of a rich and powerful 
family of San Gimignano. Two of the town’s famous 14 towers were of the Ardinghelli’s (see 
below two towers of San Gimignano)]. 



] 
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Gathering, correcting and changing the testament in those parts in which he appointed as 

his heir Migliore, son of his nephew Vieri, and revoking his disposition that what oral parts you 
would come in contact through Sandra [the only and closest Sandra we can find is Sandra 
Guadagni, great-grand-daughter of Panza Guadagni, 3rd cousin of Gherardo Guadagni]. 
In 1327, the same year Gherardo wrote his testament and died, Sandra married Tommaso Donati, 
son of Corso Donati, who was the leader of the Black Guelphs and for a while the most powerful 
man in Florence], and the same testament writer Gherardo wrote that 
 



 
 

Corso Donati (on the left) by contemporary artist Peter Howson (on the right). 
 

if he (Migliore) had male children born to him, one or several, in that case, the same male 
children, one or more, even posthumous (born after the death of their father Migliore) or 
posthumous of his wife (I presume the mother dies during the birth or shortly before or 
afterwards) and the testament writer himself makes the baby to be born universal heir, of all his 
goods, those that can be moved (furniture, paintings, etc.) and those that cannot (land, castles, 
buildings in general, etc.), then in writing and actions he established and decided that if it was a 
female offspring, one or more than one, and that she was born from her mother’s womb and 
became separated from her mother’s body and was well heard screaming (i.e. she was alive) by 
any of the people who were present and very well seen by any of them, it is instituted by law that 
one thousand two hundred florins will be appointed to them and to any of them who wants and 
knows how to deliver the newborn, and for the time being to them and any of them and in an 
honorable way, food and clothes for them and any of them, and to give them or lend them 
anything they need. 
 



 
Medieval depictions of the birth of a baby with all the midwives assisting the delivering 

mother. 
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The heir and successor of Gherardo and testament writer of the same, living in the house, 
up to whenever the marriage is arranged, if they or somebody else happens to die before the 
marriage is consumed, the remaining spouse inherits the legacy of one thousand two hundreds 
Florins, hence if this same will-writer dies and so do all of his successors, and if his daughters to 
be born or any of them happen to marry and then remain widows afterwards,  in this case the 
inheritance remains to them and any one of them  she leaves them to, and lives in the house, will 
want to remain hence with the heir and successor, witnessed by the same witness, and if those 
daughters to be born or others of them happen to marry and then remain widows in that case it 
remains to them, and whomever of them lives in the house where now the writer of the will lives, 
they get the food, the way of life and the clothes of the goods of the will writer himself, well and 
in an honorable way, until his life remains deprived and destitute, and if it happens that no 
children are born to the will writer, one or more male children, or if it happens that the will 
writer has one or more male children, and they die in childhood, or if afterwards somebody 
without legitimate male children or a procreating legitimate marriage, then in whatever of these 
cases, to them and to whomever of them he will stand on and stand up to and his heir and his so 
called children to the will manifested by Migliore son of Vieri, Gherardo’s own nephew, and the 
daughter and the son of Matteo (i.e Piera, one of the Dominican sisters who found the Convent 
of San Niccolo’ di Prato, and her brother  

 



 
 

 
Images of Dominican Convent of San Niccolo’ in Prato co-founded by Sister Piera Guadagni, 

sister of our direct ancestor Vieri. 
 
 
Vieri, (our direct ancestor, father of Migliore Junior) son of Migliore Guadagni and if Migliore 
has a new contingent of children in young age (eventually as we know Migliore had five 
daughters, Sister Francesca, Agnoletta, Nanna, Niccolosa and Jacopa, and one son, Vieri), 
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or afterwards somebody without legitimate male children but procreates from a legitimate 

marriage, or reunited with the same Migliore has legitimate male children born and remaining, 
one or more, and the above, one or more, die in their childhood, or afterwards somebody without 



legitimate male children from a legitimate marriage, procreates at that very time and whether he 
likes it or not in that situation, he wants it and legitimizes it and entrusts it of all the goods he 
can, all of them, and what is in the Testament elsewhere for the same Gherardo, polished and 
written, all for us, he said and legitimized, brought and entrusted. 

 
Medieval Family 

 



 
Medieval Courting 

 
            If the above Migliore dies, before he attains a legitimate status, or sometimes 

afterwards, without legitimate male children born from a legitimate wedlock and everything and 
each single thing just as it is disposed for in the testament, and entrusted, carried for this 
testament, in case it is committed, and to whomever of them, and also you find written in this 
testament appropriately that everything that is written and repeated and put in this testament he 
wanted to be taken away from this text elsewhere for its condition, and it is said and written. 
Altogether from this side on, it is broken into pieces by Lord Pazzino de Pazzi (he was the 
grandfather of Vieri Guadagni’s wife, Monna de’Pazzi; Vieri was Gherardo Guadagni’s nephew) 
and Datrone.     



 
Pazzi Family Chapel in the Basilica of Santa Croce, Florence, by Architect Brunelleschi 
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They did it to protect in person Master Francesco. In the above Testament the facts 

revoked clearly and advanced by the same Master Francesco in the safeguard and inspiration of 
Migliore, if in some way adding to the above testament and giving to the “tutors of the tutors” 
together with other tutors explaining this testament written by the above Gherardo put together 
and written for the noble descendant of Migliore, and the same heir, an only child or one of 
many, born from the above and from his wife, and among them Francesco de’ Medici and 
Guadagno son of Migliore Guadagni of the Parish of Saint Peter the Oldest (or the Greater) for 
the execution and feoffment of the Testaments and the Last Wills of the same on the condition of 
what was said and indicated in the text and the Last Will executed together with the execution of 
the will and trust of other people in the above written text and left everything to the executioner 
of the will, and the single contents of the same text and of the Testament and of the Last Will, 
and because of them taking away from the above Will what was left in the above text in what 
was bequested by the testator and that is what was and is appointed and left by Gherardo to the 
poors for his soul and the ones of his relatives and children and grandchildren, and his weapons 
of attack and defense, and all of his room with the bed and the other related furniture in the 
above Room .    

                       

Church of San Pier Maggiore (Saint Peter the Greater) in the 17th century (above) and the arch 
that is left of it now (see picture below) after it was demolished in the 18th Century by order of 

the Grand-Duke because of the dangers of crumbling on faithfuls and passers-by due to its 



instable foundations. It is located in one of the most ancient neighborhoods of Florence where 
the Guadagni, already wealthy and noble in those ancient times, had houses and palace. Most of 

the street on the left of the Church used to belong to the Guadagni (see closeup of the street 3 
pictures below). 

 

Remains of the Church of San Pier Maggiore (“Saint Peter the Greater”). You can read on the 
left “Piazza (Square) San Pier Maggiore”) on the small street sign on the left of the closed 

window. 
 



 
Details of the square and a street leading to it, above and below. 

 



 
 

This used to be a Guadagni Street in the Middle-Ages; part of the arch of the Church is englobed 
into it (around the Irish Pub “The Lion’ Fountain”). Most of its houses and buildings belonged to 

the Guadagni. 
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And he took away from his room the bed, and the other pieces of furniture existing in 
said room, and he clearly revoked the above remnant and left only his weapons except for his 
iron breastplate. 

 
Medieval breastplate 

 
In that manner he added to the above testament and by his will he left, added, said, 

ordered and did, what he had to do. In the Church of Santa Maria de’ Servi (“Saint Mary of the 
Servites”) of Florence (now known as “Basilica of Santissima Annunziata of the Servites 
Fathers”) in the Guadagni Chapel he erected for the above Migliore, his father, called Chapel of 
Saint Martin, he put his own tomb covered by marble stones, in which stones is portrayed the 
figure of Gherardo himself, Gherardo son of Migliore Guadagni of the Guadagni Family of 
Florence. 

[In the above paragraph Gherardo abbreviates, “Guadagni” in “Guada”, “Florencia” 
(Florence in Latin) in “Flor.a”, “reliquit”(he left in Latin) in “reliqt”and so forth; as we 
remember, he wrote on his deathbed, and maybe he felt his strength diminishing by the hour and 
wanted to make sure he had the capacity to finish it all in the few days or hours he had left to live 
and so he used abbreviations]  

 



 
 
Guadagni Chapel of Santissima Annunziata where the brothers Iacopo (our direct 

ancestor) and Filippo (direct ancestor of the Torrigiani) Guadagni are buried. However Gherardo 
is buried in a more ancient private chapel of the Santissima Annunziata (built 2 centuries earlier, 
during his lifetime), which is one of the most ancient of all the chapels of Florence. 

 
This chapel, continues Gherardo in his Last Will, will be full of light and open, you will be able 
to read and to see and to know  that this is the tomb of Gherardo Guadagni and that he wanted 
this last will of his to be finished, valid, and lawful, and if this testament is not lawful or if it is 
not as lawful as he wanted, if anybody is able to add what he wanted, adding malevolent things, 
and is able to ratify it and get it approved, as if Gherardo himself had put it together and 
consented to it, if what is written for him is not impaired except to some extent – today he 
detracts part of the text of the testament, which was corrected, revoked and changed b 
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Done in Florence in Gherardo’s house in the presence of witrness Brother Guglielmo de 
Castra, Brother Agostino de Macella, futur director of the Convent of the Servites of Mary 
(Santissima Annunziata) of Florence, parishioner of the Church of San Michele, witness Giano 
Duvelli, parishioner of Santo Stefano, Alessio 

 

 
 

Church of Santo Stefano, Florence, near Ponte Vecchio 
 

 
Ponte Vecchio (the “Old Bridge”), Florence (above and below) 

 



 
 
 
 

Manetti de’ Medici, Albizzo Lapi de’ Medici, and Puccino Santarelli of the Parish of San 
Tommaso in Florence were called and questioned by the above will- 
writer Crassus, son of Dino Noti (? difficult to decipher the handwriting), Notary of Petrognano, 
Ordinary Judge by Imperial Authority  and well-known foreteller of public events, pollling clerk 
and introducer of bills. 
 
Louis IV, called the Bavarian, was King of the Romans from 1314, King of Italy from 1327, and 
Holy Roman Emperor from 1328, the year Gherardo died. 
 



 
Holy Roman Emperor Louis IV aka the Bavarian 

 
 



 
 

Manetti Palace, Florence, first 2 pictures Lapi Palace  Florence 
 



 
 

Church of San Tommaso, Florence 
 
 


